

Different Fertilizer Packages has Positive Effect on the Yield Performance of Cauliflower and Tomato in the Upland and Hill valley

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to evaluate effect of different fertilizer packages on the yield performance of cauliflower and tomato in the upland and hill valley. Influences of different fertilizer packages on yields and fruit quality of cauliflower and tomato were compared during 2015 to 2017 growing periods under field conditions. The experiments were conducted in two hill district of Bangladesh (CHTs) i.e. Bandarban, and Khagrachari under the AEZ 29 (Northern and Eastern Hills Tract). In this experiments Cauliflower, and Tomato in the upland hill valley soil were used as the test crop. The experiment was designed on Randomized Completely Block Design (RCBD) with three replication. The treatments consider as Cauliflower: *T₁= Farmers Practice, T₂= N₁₀₀P₅₀K₉₀ S₁₈ Zn_{2.3} B_{0.5} kg/ha, Cowdung 5 ton/ha, T₃= 125% of T₂ and T₄= 150% of T₂. Tomato: *T₁= Control, T₂= N₁₀₀P₅₀K₉₀ S₁₈ Zn_{2.3} B_{0.5} kg/ha, Cowdung 5 ton/ha & lime 1.5 t/ha, T₃= 125% of T₂ and T₄= 150% of T₂. In khagrachari, the highest yield of cauliflower (44.98, 59.07 and 45.67 t/ha) and in Bandarban site (57.98, 53.47 and 55.66 t/ha) was recorded with T₄ treatment that received 150% of T₂ while the lowest yield was observed with T₁ treatment receiving no fertilizer. In case of tomato, the highest yield (59.72, 55.73 and 36.07 t/ha) in Khagrachari site and in Bandarban site (56.43, 58.33 and 59.64 t/ha) was recorded with T₄ treatment that received 150% of T₂ while the lowest yield was observed with T₁ treatment receiving no fertilizer.

Comment [PK1]: Spelling

Comment [PK2]: Spelling

Key words: Fertilizer Packages, Yield of Cauliflower, Yield of Tomato

1. INTRODUCTION

Cauliflower contains minimum fat, but higher amount of dietary fiber, folic acid, water, as well as L-ascorbic acid, possessing an affluent nutritional density. A high intake of reduces the risk of aggressive prostate cancer. Tomato is one of the most popular, important and widely used vegetable crops as ranked number two vegetable of the world after potato [1]. Tomatoes and tomato-based foods are considered healthy foods as they are low in fat and calories, cholesterol free, and a good source of fiber and protein. Since tomato plays an important role in human diet, its nutritional quality is of particular concern to consumers throughout the world [2]. The nutritional value of tomato consists essentially of carotene (provitamin A), lycopene, vitamin C and mineral nutrients. To reduce and eliminate the loss of nutrient in

hill valley and upland different fertilizer packages and pesticides on human health and environment, new agricultural practices have been developed in the so-called organic agriculture, ecological agriculture or sustainable agriculture [3, 4]. The different fertilizer packages take the place of inorganic fertilizers in sustainable agriculture. The main sources of the different fertilizer packages are composted livestock manures, plant residues and industrial wastes and inorganic fertilizers. The different fertilizer packages provide the nutritional requirements of plants and also suppress the plant pest's populations in upland and hill valley. Additionally, they increase the microbial activity in soil, anion and cation exchange capacity, organic matter and carbon-content of soil. The different fertilizer packages increase the yield and quality of agricultural crops in ways similar to inorganic fertilizers [5, 6]. [7, 8, 9,10] Tomato and cauliflower is one of the organically produced vegetables and one of the most important vegetable crops in hilly area of the some countries [11]. The use of different fertilizer packages has also been observed to improve plant growth and quality. Numerous studies on different fertilizer packages from various sources have been found to promote root formation increase fruit setting and yield [12] and also increase plant dry mass. It has also been reported that the increase in yield, chlorophyll production and fruit quality of tomatoes and cauliflower was due to improvement of uptake of N, P and K [13]. In addition, different fertilizer packages were reported to affect the chemical composition and quality of the marketable produce cauliflower and tomato [14]. Premuzic et al. (1998) [15] found that tomatoes grown in different fertilizers packages contained significantly more calcium and vitamin C but less iron compared with those grown in a non-fertilizers condition. Some authors have found that fruit and horticultural organic crops contain more minerals and vitamins than conventional crops. Often different fertilizer packages are associated with higher yield compared to organic fertilizers. Hence, an experiment was undertaken to assess the different fertilizer packages on the yield performance of cauliflower and tomato in the upland and hill valley.

Comment [PK3]: Spelling

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Experimental site and period

The research work was conducted at two hill districts i.e. Khagrachari and Bandarban, the research field under the Department of Sustainable land management, CRP-1, Hill Agriculture Program during November, 2015 to March, 2017 to find out the growth and yield attributes of cauliflower and tomato cultivars as influenced by different fertilizer packages.

Comment [PK4]: Mention longitude and latitude of study area

2.2 Experimental materials

The two varieties of cauliflower and tomato such as V1= Snow White and V2= Quite excel and tomato V1= Hero plus V2= Surrokkha F1 were used as planting materials for the study. Including control, different fertilizers packages based combinations of $N_{100}P_{50}K_{90} S_{18} Z_{n2.3} B_{0.5}$ kg/ha, Cowdung 5 ton/ha as treatments. The experiment was laid out in the Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with three replications.

2.3 Raising the seedlings

As per BRRRI recommendation seed bed was prepared with 1 m wide seed bed adding nutrients as per the requirements of soil. Seeds were sown in the seed bed on November, 2015,2016,2017 in order to transplant the seedlings in the plot as per experimental design. Complete germination of seeds took place within 5 days of sowing. The seedlings were allowed in the seedbed for 30 days. After 30 days of emergence the seedlings were transplanted into main field.

2.4 Application of manures and fertilizers

Experiment was conducted at Khagrachari and Bandarban site to evaluate the optimum fertilizer doses for hilly soil. Snow White variety of cauliflower and Hero plus variety of tomato was used as the material for the experiment. All of organic manure, P, S, Zn and B were applied as basal during final land preparation. N & K were applied in two equal splits at 15 & 35 days after transplanting as ring method. There were four treatments and three replications.

Fertilizers were applied in the form of Urea, TSP, MoP, Gypsum and Zinc sulphate, respectively. Half of urea and all other fertilizers were applied and mixed with soil at the time of final land preparation. Rest

urea was top dressed at 25 days after transplanting. Seedlings of cauliflower (var. Snow white), tomato (hero plus) at the age of 30 days were planted on a plot size of 5 m x 4 m with plant spacing of 60 cm x 40 cm. The crops were harvested 80-95 days after planting (DAP). Twice irrigations one of each at 25 days interval from the transplant of seedlings; one weeding at 20 DAP; two sprayings of secure fungicide @ 1.5mL-1 of water for controlling blight of crops.

2.5 Transplanting of seedlings

Thirty days old healthy and uniform seedlings were transplanted in the experimental plots maintaining a spacing of 60 cm x 40 cm. Seedbeds were watered in the morning before uprooting the seedlings to avoid damage of the roots. The seedlings were uprooted carefully from the seedbed to ensure minimum injury to the root systems. Transplanting was done in the afternoon and watered lightly with a watering can immediately after transplanting for better establishment. The transplanted seedlings were kept under shade with pieces of banana leaf sheaths during the day time to protect those from the scorching sunshine. At night seedlings were kept open to receive dew. Shading and watering were continued for 3 days until the seedlings were established. A few of seedlings were planted at the same time in the border of the experimental plot for gap filling.

2.6 Pest management

To protect the crops from Cutworm and Epilakhna beetle and other insect foliar spray of the pesticide Decis EC 25@25 ml/liter was used. To protect the plants from fungus foliar spray of the fungicide Rovral was used @20 g per 10 liter of water.

2.7 Harvesting

Harvesting was done plot wise at different dates after attaining the harvest maturity from February, 2016, 2017 to March, 2018. Before harvesting, the harvest maturity was ensured by watching the color and size of curd. Randomly selected five plants were from each plot for data collection. Five plants, most of which from middle rows, were selected randomly from each unit plot for data collection.

2.8 Data analysis

Analysis of variance was done following the Randomized Complete Block Design with the help of MSTAT-C package program developed. The means for all the treatments were calculated and analysis of variance for each parameter was performed by F- test (Gomez and Gomez, 1984) [16] while means were adjusted by Least Significant Different test (LSD) at 5% level of significant.

3. RESULTS

3.1 Yield of cauliflower in the upland and hill valley by the performance of different fertilizer packages

Data presented in Table shows the effect of different fertilizer packages on the yield performance of cauliflower at Khagrachari. The yield cauliflower tended to increase progressively with increasing rate of fertilizer. The highest yield in 2015, 2016 and 2017 (44.98, 59.07 and 45.66t/ha) was recorded with T₄ treatment that received 150% of T₂ while the lowest yield was observed with T₁ treatment receiving no fertilizer. As the yield was increasing progressively with increasing rate of fertilizer. The lowest values of plant growth and yield contributing components of cauliflower (Days to curd initiation, plant height, individual plant weight, head length, head girth, marketable head weight and head yield) were recorded from the control treatment compared to other treatments, mainly due to the low soil nutrients status and no fertilization during cropping period at all. This finding was supported by Mohammed and Solaiman (2012) [17] who reported that nutrients supply was an important input for realizing higher cabbage yield. Hence, the application of fertilizers, especially organic fertilizers enhanced both soil and crop productivity in the hill valley and upland.

Table 1. Yield of cauliflower as affected by different packages of fertilizer (Khagrachari site)

Treatments*	Yield (t/ha) in 2015	Yield (t/ha) in 2016	Yield (t/ha) in 2017
T ₁	20.70 ^c	35.84c	22.33c

Comment [PK5]: Mention table no.

T ₂	28.67 ^{bc}	52.43b	32.33b
T ₃	34.60 ^b	54.16ab	38.33b
T ₄	44.98 ^a	59.07a	45.66a
LSD Value (0.05)	9.88	4.08	6.09
CV%	6.27	10.92	14.02

*T₁= Farmers Practice, T₂= N₁₀₀P₅₀K₉₀ S₁₈ Zn_{2.3} B_{0.5} kg/ha, Cowdung 5 ton/ha, T₃= 125% of T₂ and T₄= 150% of T₂

Data presented in Table shows the effect of different fertilizer packages on the yield performance of cauliflower at Bandarban site. The yield cauliflower tended to increase progressively with increasing rate of fertilizer. The highest yield in 2015, 2016 and 2017 (57.98, 53.47 and 55.66 t/ha) was recorded with T₄ treatment that received 150% of T₂ while the lowest yield was observed with T₁ treatment receiving no fertilizer. As the yield was increasing progressively with increasing rate of fertilizer.

Comment [PK6]: Mention table no.

Table 2. Yield of cauliflower as affected by different packages of fertilizer (Bandarban site)

Treatments*	Yield (t/ha) in 2015	Yield (t/ha) in 2016	Yield (t/ha) in 2017
T ₁	24.30 ^c	26.22c	20.23c
T ₂	48.3 ^{bc}	42.53b	42.33b
T ₃	54.66 ^b	51.11ab	43.33b
T ₄	57.98 ^a	53.47a	55.66a
LSD Value (0.05)	8.34	3.55	5.43
CV%	7.31	10.56	9.21

*T₁= Farmers Practice, T₂= N₁₀₀P₅₀K₉₀ S₁₈ Zn_{2.3} B_{0.5} kg/ha, Cowdung 5 ton/ha, T₃= 125% of T₂ and T₄= 150% of T₂

3.2 Yield of tomato in the upland and hill valley by the performance of different fertilizer packages

Data presented in Table shows the effect of different fertilizer packages on the yield performance of tomato at khagrachari site. The yield tomato tended to increase progressively with increasing rate of fertilizer. The highest yield in 2015, 2016 and 2017 (59.72, 55.73 and 36.07t/ha) was recorded with T₄ treatment that received 150% of T₂ while the lowest yield was observed with T₁ treatment receiving no fertilizer. As the yield was increasing progressively with increasing rate of fertilizer. In case of last year the yield of tomato was reduced due to some climatic factor.

Comment [PK7]: Mention table no.

Table 3. Yield of tomato as affected by different fertilizer packages (Khagrachari site)

Treatments*	Yield (t/ha) in 2015	Yield (t/ha) in 2016	Yield (t/ha) in 2017
T ₁	26.23 ^b	27.55b	21.1 c
T ₂	40.70 ^b	49.26ab	26.7b
T ₃	55.63 ^a	43.5c	30.16b
T ₄	59.72 ^c	55.73a	36.07a
LSD Value (0.05)	5.76	4.51	4.56
CV%	1.87	16.47	12.08

*T₁= Farmers Practice, T₂= N₁₀₀P₅₀K₉₀ S₁₈ Zn_{2.3} B_{0.5} kg/ha, Cowdung 5 ton/ha, T₃= 125% of T₂ and T₄= 150% of T₂

Data presented in Table shows the effect of different fertilizer packages on the yield performance of tomato at Bandarban site. The yield tomato tended to increase progressively with increasing rate of fertilizer. The highest yield in 2015, 2016 and 2017 (59.43, 58.33 and 59.64 t/ha) was recorded with T₄ treatment that received 150% of T₂ while the lowest yield was observed with T₁ treatment receiving no fertilizer. As the yield was increasing progressively with increasing rate of fertilizer.

Comment [PK8]: Mention table no.

Table 4. Yield of tomato as affected by different fertilizer packages (Bandarban site)

Treatments*	Yield (t/ha) in 2015	Yield (t/ha) in 2016	Yield (t/ha) in 2017
-------------	----------------------	----------------------	----------------------

T ₁	22.31 ^c	25.43b	24.1 c
T ₂	39.40 ^b	42.16ab	46.7b
T ₃	53.53 ^b	53.51c	51.73b
T ₄	56.43 ^a	58.33a	59.64a
LSD Value (0.05)	6.34	3.22	4.89
CV%	11.55	14.15	13.75

*T₁= Farmers Practice, T₂= N₁₀₀P₅₀K₉₀ S₁₈ Zn_{2.3} B_{0.5} kg/ha, Cowdung 5 ton/ha, T₃= 125% of T₂ and T₄= 150% of T₂

4. DISCUSSION

Bangladesh is an agricultural country and its hilly soil is of great importance as a natural resource. Continuous mining of nutrients from the soil system of Bangladesh is going on by forcing the limited cultivable land to maximize crop yields per unit area through the use of land and soil resources. The illiterate and poor farmers of Bangladesh have tended to only exploiting the soils rather than maintaining them in a healthy fertile state. Intensive cultivation of high yielding crop varieties using only some inorganic fertilizers and almost no recycling of organic residues have reduced soil organic carbon as well as other plant nutrients, especially N, which leads to severe land degradation in Bangladesh [18]. Under such situation to increase soil fertility and sustain crop productivity, there is no alternative besides to add different fertilizers packages into the soil. Different fertilizers packages can serve as a substitute to mineral fertilizers. Despite the large quantities of plant nutrients contained in different fertilizers packages as compared to organic nutrients, the presence of growth promoting agents in organic fertilizers make them important for enhancement of soil fertility and productivity [19]. The low fertility status is one of the major constraints to crop production in most of the soils of the hill valley and upland [20]. Vast areas of hill lands that were once fertile have been rendered unproductive due to continuous cultivation and erosion which caused physical degradation, loss of soil organic matter and decreased cation exchange capacity (CEC) and as well as increased Al and Mn toxicity [21]. The problem of low fertility status of most valley soils has necessitated growing search for many soil fertility improvement techniques, such as adoption of appropriate and adequate fertilizer packages, involving the use of organic and / or inorganic fertilizers [22].

Cauliflower is a cole crop, belongs to the cruciferae family. It is an important fresh and processing vegetable crop in most of the countries of the world. Cauliflower is believed to have originated in Western Europe and it was the 2nd cole crop to be cultivated. Cauliflower is one of the main cash crops and generally grown in rabi season in Bangladesh. Growth and yield of this vegetable crop is remarkably influenced by organic and inorganic nutrients management. It is an established fact that use of different fertilizers packages for the crops is so good for health of hill valley soils. In Bangladesh, most of the cultivated soils have less than 1.5% organic matter, while a good agricultural soil should contain at least 2% organic matter [23]. So, more attention is needed for increasing organic matter content in the soil which is possible only by using more different fertilizers packages.

Fertilizers packages enrich the soil organic matter, which improves soil structure or workability (soil tilth), making the soil easier to plough (sand and clay soils). Therefore, the application of different fertilizers packages assist structuring of soil to open and admit air penetration to roots and water drainage, both conditions necessary for satisfactory plant growth [24]. Most vegetable crops return small amounts of crop residue to the soil, so manure, compost, and other organic amendments help maintain soil organic matter levels. In Bangladesh, the farmers use mostly the chemical fertilizers for their crop production and they are used to do it, even many of them don't use organic manures in their farm at all. Besides, the excess application of inorganic fertilizers causes hazard to public health and the environment. As a result, the soil health is deteriorating day by day. So, the combined application of different fertilizers packages can

increase the yield and keep the environment sound [25]. Therefore, it is a crucial need to use more different fertilizers packages.

The experiment the yield of F1 fertilizer treatment were satisfactory and even comparable to that of inorganic fertilizer treatment. The results obtained were in agreement with those of Roberts et al., (2007) [26]. Moccia et al. (2006) [27] who reported that the application of cattle manure alone or in combination with other organic fertilizers increases organic tomato yield comparable to that of inorganic fertilizers. Additionally, Hellemi and Azarovit (2002) [28], reported that application of composted cattle manure about 30 to 40 t/ha along with inorganic fertilizers was required to achieve higher yield in conventional tomato production. The common sense in organic crop production system is that the yields are often lower compared to conventional production [29]. The effect of organic nutrient sources depends on management practices such as combination used, application rate, application time, and methods of incorporation. So that a combination of inorganic sources can be considered to achieve a better and balanced nutrient supply. Furthermore, composts incorporated into soil or planting mixes can provide effective biological control of diseases caused by soilborne plant pathogens as well as foliar pathogens [30]. Therefore, balanced nutrient content of the composted manures or different fertilizers and improvement of plant health by using compost or compost products can eliminate the yield production in tomato production as it is shown in the present study.

5. CONCLUSION

Considering the yield and yield attributes and from the above mentioned discussions it can be concluded that the treatment $T_4 = 150\%$ of T_2 performed better than the treatment T_1 where only different fertilizers were used and also better than that of other treatment combinations in respect of growth and curd yield of cauliflower and tomato in the experiment. Therefore, use of different fertilizer packages in hill valley and upland could be a good option in cauliflower and tomato production as well as maintaining soil health for enhancing sustainable crop production. In conclusion, this work showed that, satisfactory tomato and cauliflower yield and quality, comparable to those usually found for conventionally grown tomato and cauliflower, could be obtained in fertilizers packages production systems using adequate combinations and rates of different fertilizers packages.

REFERENCES

1. Dorais M, Ehret DL, Papadopoulos AP. Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) health components: from the seed to the consumer. *Phytochem. Rev.* 2008;7:231-250.
2. Chapagain BP, Wiesman Z. Effect of NutriVant-PeaK foliar spray on plant development, yield, and fruit quality in greenhouse tomatoes. *Sci Hortic.* 2004; 102:177-188.
3. Aksoy U (2001). Ecological Farming. II. Ecological Farming Symposium in Turkey. 14-16 December. Antalya.
4. Chowdhury R (2004). Effects of chemical fertilizers on the surrounding environment and the alternative to the chemical fertilizers IES- ENVIS NEWSLETTER, 7(3): 4-5.
5. Singh RS, Sitaramaiah K (1970). Control of plant parasitic nematodes with organic soil amendments. *Int. J. Pest Manage.* 16(2): 287-297.
6. Hoitink HAJ, Boehn MJ (1999). Biocontrol within the context of soil microbial communities: A substrate dependent phenomenon. *Ann. Rev. Phytopath.*, 37: 427-446.
7. Bulluck LR, RistainoJB (2002). Effect of synthetic and organic soil fertility amendments on southern blight, soil microbial communities, and yield of processing tomatoes. *Phytopathology*, 92: 181-189.

8. Arancon NQ, Edwards CA, Bierman P, Metzger JD, Lee S, Welch C (2004). Effects of vermicomposts on growth and marketable fruits of field-grown tomatoes, peppers and strawberries. *Pedobiologia*, 47(56): 731-735.
9. Liu B, Gumpertz ML, Hu S, Ristaino JB (2007). Long-term effects of organic and synthetic soil fertility amendments on soil microbial communities and the development of southern blight. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 39: 2302-2316.
10. Tonfack LB, Bernadac A, Youmbi E, Mbouapouognigni VP, Ngueguim M, Akoa A (2009). Impact of organic and inorganic fertilizers on tomato vigor, yield and fruit composition under tropical and soil conditions. *Fruits*, 64: 167-177.
11. FAO. 2008. <http://faostat.fao.org>.
12. Atiyeh, R.M, Lee, S., Edward, C.A., Arancon, N.Q. and Metzger, J.D. (2002). The influence of humic acids derived from earthworm-processed organic wastes on plant growth. *Biores. Technol.* 84(1): 7 – 14.
13. Tejada, M. and Gonzalez, J.L. (2003). Effects of the application of a compost originating from crushed cotton gin residues on wheat yield under dry land conditions. *Eur. J. Agron.* 19: 357 – 368.
14. Lazcano, C., Revilla, P., Malvar, A. and Domínguez J. (2011). Yield and fruit quality of four sweet corn hybrids (*Zea mays*) under conventional and integrated fertilization with vermicompost. *Journal Sci Food Agric.* 91: 1244 – 1253.
15. Premuzic, Z., Bargiela, M., Garcia, A., Rendina, A. and Iorio, A. (1998). Calcium, iron, potassium, phosphorus and vitamin C content of organic and hydroponic tomatoes. *Hortscience* 33: 255 – 257.
16. Gomez Kwanchai A Gomez and Arturo A Gomez. (1984). Statistical procedures for agricultural research.
17. Mohammed RH, Solaiman AHM. 2012. Efficacy of organic and inorganic fertilizers on the growth of cabbage (*Brassica Oleracea* L). *Int J Agric Crop Sci* 4(3):128–138. ISBN 2227–670X.
18. Karim Z, Miah MMU, Razia S. Fertilizer in the national economy and sustainable environmental development. Asia Pacific. *Journal of Environment and Development.* 1994; 2:48-67.6.
19. Sanwal SK, Lakminarayana K, Yadav RK, Rai N, Yadav DS, Mousumi B. Effect of organic manures on soil fertility, growth, physiology, yield and quality of turmeric. *Ind. J. Hort.* 2007;64(4):444-449.
20. Gazel GOT. The role of organic wastes in maintaining soil fertility under continuous cropping. *Adv. J. Soil Sci.* 2005;6(3):553– 559.
21. Mba CN. Influence of organic wastes on plant growth parameters and nutrient uptake by maize (*Zea mays* L). *Nig. J. Soil Sci.* 2006;16:104-108.
22. Tankou JFT. The role of organic and inorganic fertilizers in soil fertility maintenance and crop production. *Soil Sci. Res.* 2004;6(4):751–757.
23. Haque A, Bhowal SK, Ali M, Robbani M. 2015. yield and yield attributes of cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* var. *capitata*) as influenced by soil organic amendments. *Basic Research Journal of Agricultural Science and Review* ISSN 2315-6880 Vol. 4(12) pp. 339-344.
24. Eimhoit S. Schjonning P, Munkholm LJ. 2005. Soil aggregation – a matter of proper management. Danish Research Centre for Organic Farming. www.darcof.dk/enews/jun05/crumb.html (accessed August 2008).
25. Hsieh CF, Fang HC, Nan K, Hsu KN. 1996. Effect of continuous use of organic manures on the growth and yield of vegetable soybean and cabbage. *Bull Taichung District. Agric, Improvement State.*, Japan. 46: 1-10.
26. Roberts P, Jones DL, Edwards-Jones G, 2007. Yield and vitamin C content of tomatoes grown in vermicomposted wastes, *J. Sci. Food Agric.*, 87: 1957-1963.
27. Moccia S, Chiesa A, Oberti A, Tittone I P (2006). Yield and quality of sequentially grown cherry tomato and lettuce under long-term conventional, low-input and organic soil management systems. *European J. Hort. Sci.*, 71: 183-191.

28. Hellemi DOC, Azarovits GL (2002). Effect of organic fertilizer applications on growth, yield and pests of vegetable crops. *Proc. Fla. State Hort. Soc.*, 115: 315-321.
29. Mäder P, Fliessbach A, Dubois D, Gunst L, Fried P, Niggli U (2002). Soil fertility and biodiversity in organic farming. *Science*, 296: 1694-1697.
30. Abbasi PA, Al-Dahmani J, Sahin F, Hoitink HAJ, Miller SA (2002). Effect of compost amendments on disease severity and yield of tomato in organic and conventional production systems. *Plant Dis.*, 86: 156-161.

UNDER PEER REVIEW